FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
10/24/2022 3:09 PM
No. 101398-1

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/25/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

DOMINIQUE JAMES AVINGTON,

Petitioner.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Court of Appeals No. 55222-1-II
Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
Superior Court Cause Number 18-1-04290-1
The Honorable Jerry Costello, Judge

STEPHANIE C. CUNNINGHAM Attorney for Petitioner WSBA No. 26436

4616 25th Avenue NE, No. 552 Seattle, Washington 98105 Phone (206) 526-5001

# **

## I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is Dominique James Avington,

Defendant and Appellant in the case below.

## II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the part-published opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division 2, case number 55222-1-II, which was filed on September 27, 2022. (Attached in Appendix) The Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction entered against Petitioner in the Pierce County Superior Court.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the trial court err by refusing to give a first degree manslaughter instruction based on its opinion that the lesser charge could not have been committed to the exclusion of the charged offense, but the *Workman* standard simply requires that the evidence supports an inference that the lesser crime was committed?

- 2. Did the trial court err in refusing to give a first degree manslaughter instruction where the evidence supports an inference that first degree manslaughter was committed?
- 3. Pro se issues: Should Petitioner's convictions be reversed where: there is insufficient evidence to prove he was an accomplice or to prove the assault charge related to the shooting of Hendricks; the trial court inappropriately merged his convictions; the self-defense jury instruction given was not appropriate for the assault charges; and the prosecutor committed misconduct?

## IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Procedural History

The State charged Dominique James Avington, as a principal or accomplice, with first degree murder and second degree murder related to the death of Terrence King, and three counts of first degree assault related to

victims Perry Walls, Denzel McIntyre, and Pearl Hendricks. (CP 53-55) The State also alleged that Avington was armed with a firearm, and that his offenses were aggravated because they involved a destructive and foreseeable impact on persons other than the victims. (CP 53-55)

The State charged several other individuals in connection with the shooting, but only Avington, Darry Smalley and Kenneth Davis proceeded to trial. The three defendants asserted that they acted in self-defense or defense of another, and the jury was so instructed. (CP 75-76, 77-81)

The jury found Avington and Smalley guilty as charged, but found Davis not guilty. (CP 252-68; 19RP 2928-32, 2938-40) The trial court dismissed Avington's conviction for count two, second degree murder, on double jeopardy grounds due to the jury's finding of guilt for the same act under count one, first degree murder.

(CP 315) The trial court imposed a standard range sentence totaling 929 months. (20RP 49-50; CP 314, 317-18) Avington timely appealed. (CP 295) The Court of Appeals affirmed Avington's conviction and sentence.

## B. Substantive Facts

Around 1:30 AM on October 21, 2018, police responded to reports of a shooting outside of the New World VIP Lounge nightclub in Lakewood, Washington. (7RP 1054, 1090, 1091; 8RP 1147) Officers arrived to a chaotic scene, with people running everywhere and multiple cars trying to exit the parking lot of the strip mall where New World was located. (7RP 1055, 1057; 1091, 1103; 8RP 1149) Officers found three gunshot victims inside the club; Terrance King, Denzel McIntyre, and Pearl Hendricks. (7RP 1058, 1059, 1059, 1066; 1093, 1118)

Terrance King died as a result of a gunshot wound to his chest. (7RP 1046, 1118; 11RP 1599) He had

arrived at the club that night to pick up his girlfriend, bartender Natosha Jackson. (9RP 1357) According to Jackson, the scene inside the club was chaotic, and she felt that the crowd was "getting out of control." (9RP 1359) She felt that several patrons were being particularly disrespectful to her, so she decided to go outside to "take a breather." (9RP 1359-60, 1364-65, 1365-66)

Jackson initially testified that she bumped into her good friend Perry Walls on her way out the door, and complained to him about the way these patrons had treated her. (9RP 1363, 1365-66) She testified that she pointed out the unruly group to Walls and asked Walls to watch out for her. (9RP 1365, 1368, 1381) Walls responded, "All right, sis; I got you." (9RP 1365)

But Jackson changed her testimony after viewing surveillance video that showed her crossing the club to where Walls and his friends were gathered, talking to Walls, and walking Walls over to where the men were standing. (9RP 1455, 1458; Exhs. 280, 281, 282) Jackson then acknowledged that she sought out Walls so that he could confront the group of men she complained about. (9RP 1458)

Surveillance videos show Walls walking to the area where the patrons Jackson identified were standing and socializing. A verbal exchange escalated to a physical altercation. The participants move or are pushed towards the door, and the physical altercation continues near the entrance. A number of people go outside, Walls among them. Walls can be seen outside yelling towards Avington. Walls can be seen moving his arm towards his head. Then Avington and other individuals begin shooting towards the front of the club. (Exhs. 280, 281, 282, 283, 284, 298)

Perry Walls was shot in his foot, but he left the scene before he could be questioned by police or treated

by medical responders. (11RP 1733, 1755; 13RP 2079) Walls only contacted prosecutors and made himself available to the court after Jackson contacted him midtrial and told him he should testify because the defense would claim he had displayed a gun. (10RP 1520-22; 14RP 2222, 2225-26)

According to Walls, he was drinking with his friends in the VIP area when Jackson approached him and asked him to watch out for her because she felt uncomfortable. (11RP 1721, 1722-23, 1724) He and some of his friends followed her to the bar where the men she complained about were standing, and he made a "general announcement" to the crowd. (11RP 1725) Walls, who is six feet, four inches tall and weighs 250 pounds, yelled out, "What's going on?" and "Who's disrespecting my sister?" (11RP 1725, 1726) His demeanor was so aggressive that even Jackson told him to "chill." (11RP 1726)

There was no immediate response to his inquiry, but Walls noticed one individual looking at him and "mean-mugging." (11RP 1727) Words were exchanged and individuals in both groups began gesturing as if they were preparing to fight. (11RP 1727; Exh. 280) One of the individuals in the other group punched Walls, and a large brawl ensued. (11RP 1727, 1729; Exh. 280)

The fight moved towards the front door of the club, but it was eventually broken up and several participants were removed by club security or other patrons. (11RP 1729; 14RP 2215) Even though the men he fought with were mostly outside and walking away from the club, Walls was still angry about being punched, and he wanted to confront them again. (13RP 2097, 2099-2100; 14RP 2216) So Walls followed them outside and continued to yell at them and call them names. (11RP 1729-30; 13RP 2100-01; 14RP 2216, 2217, 2228; Exhs. 280, 283, 284, 298)

Walls testified that he had walked a few feet outside of the club when he heard gunshots. (11RP 1730, 1732) Walls turned and ran back towards the door, and later realized he had been shot. (11RP 1730, 1732-33) Walls claimed that he was frisked by security before he came into the club, and never had a gun or other object in his hands before the shooting started. (11RP 1722, 1732, 1754)

Denzel McIntyre is a friend of Terrance King and went with him to pick up Jackson. (8RP 1207-08) While they waited in the car, Jackson came out and complained about her night and said she wanted to go home. (8RP 1211, 1213) McIntyre and King followed Jackson back to the front door of the club, but they did not follow her inside. (8RP 1214) As they stood outside, they saw a fight break out and saw Perry Walls yelling towards individuals who were standing in the parking lot. (8RP 1248) Moments later, McIntyre heard multiple shots

being fired, and he immediately ran into the club. (8RP 1214, 1217) He felt a pain in his leg and realized he had been shot in the buttocks. (8RP 1217, 1219) He looked back and saw King laying on the ground, bleeding and unresponsive. (8RP 1218)

Pearl Hendricks was a patron at the club that night. (13RP 1981) She saw Jackson approach Walls' group and have a conversation, and saw a group of men follow Jackson over to another group of men. (13RP 1983) She could tell that Jackson was angry, and could tell from the way Walls and his group were behaving that there was going to be a problem. (13RP 1989, 1991-92) Once she saw the physical fight break out between the two groups, she decided it was time to go home. (13RP 1983) She heard the gunshots as she walked out the door, so she turned and ran back inside. (13RP 1984) Unfortunately, Hendricks was struck by four bullets and sadly suffered a spinal cord injury that left her paralyzed from the chest down. (13RP 1984, 1987-88)

Rachel Rennie was working the door of the club that night and saw the fight break out near the bar. (8RP 1253-54, 1260) The men fighting moved towards the front door, and Rennie heard someone say they were going outside to get a gun. (8RP 1267)

Investigating officers located shell casings in multiple locations outside of the club and one location inside, and noted bullet strikes on the outside wall of the club near the front door. (7RP 1099; 8RP 1153-54; 11RP 1638, 1640, 1653-1673; 13RP 1197-98, 2030, 2054, 2063) Based on the location of the casings and subsequent ballistics testing, investigators determined that there were three shooters. (14RP 2165) They concluded that seven recovered casings were fired from the same 9mm Ruger firearm, another 17 casings were fired from a different 9mm Ruger firearm, and six .40 caliber Smith and Wesson casings were fired from a third

firearm. (12RP 1790-93, 1796)

Based on surveillance video, social media postings, and citizen tips, investigators identified several individuals who they believed were part of the group that fought with Walls and who fired at the crowd outside of the club. (14RP 2168-69, 2172-73, 2176; Exhs. 284, 283, 287, 288, 279, 282, 285, 298) Two of those individuals were Avington and Smalley. (14RP 2177, 2181; Exh. 286; CP 67-72)

On April 8, 2019, Des Moines police received a citizen tip that the grip portion of a firearm had washed ashore at Redondo Beach. (9RP 1323-24) Based on data from an electronic home monitoring anklet, investigators discovered that one of the individuals with Avington and Smalley at the time of the shooting spent 10 minutes at the dock in Redondo Beach the day after the incident. (14RP 2183-84) Police connected the firearm grip to Smalley. (12RP 1870-71, 1874; 14RP 2184-85)

Law enforcement personnel arrested Smalley in Honolulu, Hawaii in February of 2019. (13RP 1963, 1965-66)

Smalley is from Vancouver, Washington. (15RP 2310) He and his brother drove up to the Seattle-Tacoma area for the weekend of October 20, 2018, to visit friends. (15RP 2311-12, 2313) On the night of the incident, they first went to a bar called Latitude 84. (15RP 2313) While they were there, they unexpectedly ran into a group of acquaintances from Portland. (15RP 2313-14) One of those acquaintances was Avington. (15RP 2314) The two groups eventually decided to go to the New World lounge. (15RP 2315)

Some of the group, including Smalley, went to the bar area while others stood by the dance floor. (15RP 2320) Smalley was standing near a gentleman in a yellow shirt who was having a heated exchange with the bartender (Jackson). (15RP 2324-25, 2327) Jackson eventually walked away, and the man in the yellow shirt

stayed at the bar talking with his friend. (15RP 2330)

Smalley then saw the man he now knows is Perry Walls arrive in the area with his friends in tow. (15RP) Walls started yelling and 2330-32, 2334) disrespectful to everyone in the general area. (15RP 2333) Walls' friends started pushing people and saying things like, "Bitch-ass nigger, I'll knock you out, you niggers are soft." (15RP 2338) Smalley did not respond because he did not think Walls and his friends were talking to him. (15RP 2338-39) He tried to walk away, but Walls and his friends began making moves to fight. (15RP 2346) Once the fight started, Smalley got involved because he did not want to leave his friends to fend for themselves. (15RP 2346) During the fight, Smalley was thrown to the ground and broke his tooth. (15RP 2349-50)

Smalley decided to leave and he went outside to look for his brother. (15RP 2351) While he was out

there, he saw one of the men from Walls' group running towards a car. Smalley was afraid that the man might be going to get a firearm. (15RP 2352-53) Smalley then saw that his friends were coming out, so he ran to his car so he and his friends could leave. (15RP 2356-57, 2359) But his friends did not arrive at their cars after him. (15RP 2360) Concerned that they were not coming, and worried that Walls' friend planned to shoot them, Smalley got his gun and walked back towards the entrance of the club. (15RP 2360, 2361-62, 2369)

Smalley saw that his friends were still standing next to the club. (15RP 2362) He saw Avington walking backwards away from the club. (15RP 2362, 2363) Walls and two of his friends were aggressively walking towards Avington. (15RP 2362-63) Smalley saw Walls lift his shirt to show a semi-automatic firearm in his waistband. (15RP 2372) He believed that Walls was about to shoot Avington and their friends. (15RP 2373,

2375) So he fired towards Walls in order to protect himself and his friends from being shot by Walls. (15RP 2376, 2377; 16RP 2404) Smalley denied that there was any coordinated plan to shoot Walls. (15RP 2376; 16RP 2401)

Avington is from Portland, Oregon, and came to the Seattle-Tacoma area on October 20, 2018, to hang out with friends. (16RP 2456-57) He did not know Smalley and his friends would be at Latitude 84, and had not expected to see them there. (16RP 2458)

When they arrived at New World lounge, Avington noticed a large number of motorcycles parked outside. (16RP 2460) He assumed that New World was a biker bar. (16RP 2460) From past experience at Portland area biker bars, Avington knew that there were often fights and violence. So he decided to bring his gun, a Smith and Wesson .40 caliber firearm, into the club with him just in case. (16RP 2461, 2462; 17RP 2585) The bouncer

patted him down at the entrance, but not thoroughly so the gun was not discovered. (16RP 2463; 17RP 2585-86)

Avington was chatting with friends and other patrons near the bar, and was not paying attention to what was going on between the man in the yellow shirt and the bartender. (16RP 2470, 2471) But he did notice when Walls came over and started acting belligerent. (16RP 2473) Walls seemed to be directing his anger towards people in Avington's group, and it was clear to Avington that Walls and his friends wanted to fight. (16RP 2474, 2477) Once the fight started, Avington joined in to defend his friends. (16RP 2489)

Avington eventually tried to leave, but Walls followed him outside and continued to yell at Avington and his friends. (16RP 2493, 2498) Avington tried to back away from Walls, but Walls yelled out, "I'll kill all you niggers. I got something for you niggers." (16RP 2499) Then Walls lifted his shirt and showed Avington his gun.

(16RP 2499, 2500) Walls appeared to be reaching for the gun, and Avington thought Walls was going to kill him. (16 RP 2499, 2500) Avington raised his gun and fired in order to scare him and prevent Walls from shooting him. (16RP 2499, 2501) Avington did not aim at Walls, and did not intend to shoot anyone. (16RP 2501) Avington denied that there was any coordinated plan to shoot anyone. (16RP 2506)

#### V. ARGUMENT & AUTHORITIES

The issues raised by Avington's petition should be addressed by this Court because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with settled case law of the Court of Appeals, this Court and of the United State's Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

A. THE TRIAL COURT'S REFUSAL TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE OF FIRST DEGREE MANSLAUGHTER REQUIRES REVERSAL OF AVINGTON'S CONVICTION FOR FIRST DEGREE MURDER BY EXTREME INDIFFERENCE.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's

decision not to instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of manslaughter. (Opinion at 13-15) In so doing, the Court of Appeals repeated the mistake made by the trial court when it applied the incorrect factual standard of the *Workman* test and when it weighed the evidence and engaged in its own determination of credibility. This violated settled Washington case law and violated Avington's State and Federal constitutional right to present a defense.

The trial court refused to instruct the jury on first degree manslaughter as a lesser included offense of first degree murder by extreme indifference to human life. The trial court applied a rejected standard that requires evidence that the lesser charge must have been committed to the exclusion of the charged offense. Under the correct standard, which requires only that the evidence support an inference that the lesser crime was committed, Avington was entitled to the requested

instruction.

A person charged with a crime has a constitutional right under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to present a defense. See State v. Lynch, 178 Wn.2d 487, 491-92, 309 P.3d 482 (2013); State v. Corstine, 177 Wn.2d 370, 376, 300 P.3d 400 (2013); U.S. Const. amend. VI, XIV. A criminal defendant is entitled to have the jury fully instructed on his theory of the case where the instructions are supported by the evidence. State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 453, 461, 6 P. 3d 1150 (2000); see also RCW 10.61.006.

When determining whether a lesser included offense instruction is appropriate, Washington courts apply the "Workman" test: A defendant is entitled to an instruction on a lesser included offense when (1) each of the elements of the lesser offense is a necessary element of the charged offense (legal prong) and (2) the evidence in the case supports an inference that the lesser crime

was committed (factual prong). *State v. Workman,* 90 Wn.2d 443, 447-48, 584 P.2d 382 (1978).

The State charged Avington with one count of first degree murder (count 1) under subsection (b) of RCW 9A.32.030. (CP 53) That subsection provides that a person is guilty of first degree murder if, "[u]nder circumstances manifesting an extreme indifference to human life, he or she engages in conduct which creates a grave risk of death to any person, and thereby causes the death of a person[.]" RCW 9A.32.030(1)(b). Extreme indifference is "an aggravated form of recklessness which falls below a specific intent to kill." *State v. Dunbar*, 117 Wn.2d 587, 593, 817 P.2d 1360 (1991).

Avington asked the trial court to instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of first degree manslaughter. (CP 82, 87; 17RP 2613) First degree manslaughter requires proof that the defendant "recklessly causes the death of another person." RCW 9A.32.060(1)(a). In the

context of a manslaughter charge, "recklessly" means that a person knew of and disregarded a substantial risk that a homicide may occur. *State v. Gamble,* 154 Wn.2d 457, 467, 114 P.3d 646 (2005).

The trial court found that the legal prong of the Workman test was met (17RP 2620), because the elements of first degree manslaughter are necessarily included in first degree murder by extreme indifference. See State v. Pettus, 89 Wn. App. 688, 700, 951 P.2d 284 (1998); State v. Henderson, 182 Wn.2d 734, 742, 344 P.3d 1207 (2015). The trial court found that the factual prong was not met.

A trial court's decision regarding the second prong of the *Workman* rule is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Henderson*, 182 Wn.2d at 743 (citing *State v. Walker*, 136 Wn.2d 767, 771-72, 966 P.2d 883 (1998)). The trial court abused its discretion here because it applied the wrong factual standard and improperly weighed the evidence.

The trial court reviewed the facts to determine whether "the jury in this case could rationally conclude that only Manslaughter in the First Degree was committed to the exclusion of extreme indifference murder." (17RP 2622, emphasis added). The court again referred to this exclusion standard, stating "I do not believe the jury in this case could rationally conclude that any of these defendants committed Manslaughter in the First Degree to the exclusion of extreme indifference murder[.]" (17RP 2629, emphasis added).

This reliance on the exclusion standard was error because it is based on a misapplication of the *Workman* test. A line of cases after *Workman* have repeatedly misstated that the factual prong requires a showing "that *only* the lesser included/inferior degree offense was committed to the exclusion of the charged offense." *Fernandez-Medina*, 141 Wn.2d at 455 (italics in original) (citing *State v. Bowerman*, 115 Wn.2d 794, 805, 802 P.2d

116 (1990); *State v. Peterson*, 133 Wn.2d 885, 891, 948 P.2d 381 (1997)); see also *State v. Porter*, 150 Wn.2d 732, 736, 82 P.3d 234 (2004).

But recently, the State Supreme Court clarified that exclusion standard is incorrect. The Court acknowledged that the standard as expressed in "has Fernandez-Medina confusion." caused explained that the Workman test "was never intended to require evidence that the greater, charged crime was not committed—only that a jury, faced with conflicting evidence, could conclude the prosecution had proved only the lesser or inferior crime." State v. Coryell, 197 Wn.2d 397, 414-15, 483 P.3d 98 (2021) (italics in original). The Court concluded that:

we reaffirm that the factual requirement for giving a lesser or inferior degree instruction is that some evidence must be presented—from whatever source, including cross-examination—which affirmatively establishes the defendant's theory before an instruction will be given.

Coryell, 197 Wn.2d at 415.

When using the correct standard—whether the evidence raises an inference that the lesser included offense was committed—it is clear that Avington was entitled to the first degree manslaughter instruction. Avington argued that the jury could find that he did not act with extreme indifference, but did act recklessly by firing his weapon when there was a crowd gathered outside the club. (17RP 2613) Avington testified that he heard Walls threaten to kill him and his friends, and believed he saw Walls show and reach for a gun. (16RP 2499, 2500, 2501) Avington testified that he responded to this threat, but he did not aim at anyone and did not intend to shoot anyone. (16RP 2501) Smalley also testified that he did not intend to kill anyone, but only fired to protect his (16RP 2401-02, 2404) friend. Both Avington and Smalley denied having a coordinated plan to shoot at anyone. (15RP 2376; 16RP 2401, 2506)

In rejecting Avington's proposed instruction, the trial court and the Court of Appeals compared the facts of this case to those in *Henderson*, *supra*, where the Court found that a first degree manslaughter instruction should have (17RP 2620-29) been given. In *Henderson*, the defendant fired shots from the sidewalk towards a house where a party was being held, killing an individual hired to act as security for the party who was standing near the front of the house. 182 Wn.2d at 739. Police found two bullet holes in the side of the house and others in the sides of cars in the street, but none inside the house, where the majority of the partygoers were. 182 Wn.2d at 739. This Court concluded that, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the defendant, a jury could have rationally concluded that Henderson acted with disregard for a substantial risk of homicide rather than an extreme indifference that caused a grave risk of death

because he shot from a substantial distance into a relatively unpopulated area and appeared to be erratically firing his gun rather than aiming to kill. 182 Wn.2d at 746.

The trial court here found the facts from *Henderson* distinguishable from the evidence in this case. Most notably, the trial court stated:

[I]n Henderson, the Court wrote that the jury in that case might have concluded that Henderson, quote, erratically fired his gun with only the intent to frighten rather than deliberately aiming at the security people that were outside of the home....

In the present case this is what the evidence demonstrates to this court ... Mr. Avington denied aiming at anyone in particular.... Mr. Avington's assertion, his testimony that he aimed away from people, in my view is not credible.... the physical evidence undermines greatly the credibility of Mr. Avington's assertion that he did not aim at anybody in particular because the gunfire landed very close to or directly into the crowd.

# (17RP 2227-29)

Firstly, *Henderson* was decided before *Coryell*, and the Court was applying the now-rejected exclusion

standard.<sup>1</sup> Secondly, the trial court's decision here was based on its own determination of credibility. Similarly, the Court of appeals affirmed the trial court after weighing the evidence and making its own determination of credibility, stating:

[A]Ithough Avington testified that he fired high and to the right, which could support giving an instruction on first degree manslaughter, the trial court correctly determined that no reasonable jury would have been able to rationally find that Avington acted recklessly rather than with extreme indifference.... Avington's testimony was directly contradicted, not only by video evidence showing that he stood square and fired straight towards the direction of the bar entrance where the crowd was gathered, but by Avington's own stipulation that the photo still from the video showed him standing square and firing straight ahead.

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