FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/15/2022 11:16 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101398-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DOMINIQUE JAMES AVINGTON,

Petitioner.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Judge Jerry Costello

No. 18-1-04290-1

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

Teresa Chen
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 31762 / OID #91121
930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
(253) 798-6517

I. INTRODUCTION

The trial court denied Dominique Avington's request for a lesser included instruction on manslaughter. The court of appeals only considered one on Avington's claims related to that issue. It held that the trial judge did not improperly weigh evidence and make credibility determinations. Op. at 13, 15. Avington does not seek review of this decision.

Instead, Avington claims that, in determining a different issue related to the manslaughter instruction, the court issued a decision in conflict with case law. Pet. at 18, 26-27, 30 (citing RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2)). In fact, the court did not determine any other issue related to the lesser included offense. It refused to consider Avington's claim that a jury could find he reasonably believed that he needed to act in self-defense but recklessly used more force than was warranted. It found this claim was unpreserved and declined review under RAP 2.5(a). Op. at 13, n. 6.

Because this issue was not reviewed at all, it is not possible that the court's non-determination is in conflict with any case law. Discretionary review must be denied.

II. RESTATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Where the court of appeals did not accept review of the Petitioner's particular claim and did not decide it, is there any credibility to the Petitioner's assertion that the way the court decided the claim conflicts with any case law?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Dominique Avington appeals from his convictions for murder by extreme indifference and three counts of assault in the first degree. CP 1-3, 19, 295-97.

A. Avington and his co-defendants were charged with extreme indifference murder for shooting 31 times at close range at a crowd gathered outside the entrance of a club, killing Terrance King and injuring three other people.

On October 20, 2018, Avington, Darry Smalley, Kenneth Davis and seven other men had been out drinking together at the New World VIP Lounge in Lakewood. 15RP 2311-15, 2317; 16RP 2426, 2457-59. After a short brawl inside the night club,

patrons streamed out to the parking lot. CP 16-17; 8RP 1214-15; 11RP 1729-30; 15RP 2346, ll. 15-19, 2349-51; 16RP 2490; Exh. 280, channel 6, subd 1259 @ 1:22:15-1:23:35. What happened outside the club was captured on the security videos of the businesses which shared the parking lot.

Davis was one of the first to race out. CP 17; Exh. 284 @ 3:20-4:10. He returned to an area just out of camera view. *Id.*Avington and Smalley exited shortly afterward and were captured on video flat-footed, close to each other, raising their arms, and firing multiple rounds into the crowd gathered outside the entrance to the club. CP 17; Exh. 283; Exh. 284 @4:35-5:06. Suddenly people were running in every direction from sustained gunfire. 8RP 1214-17 (20-30 shots), 1240, 1247-48, 1257; 9RP 1372; 11RP 1730; Exh. 280, channel 6, subd 1259 @ 1:24:10; Exh. 280, channel 15, subd 927 @ 1:24:05-21; Exh.s 282, 287.

Perry Walls, Terrance King, and Denzel McIntyre had been in the parking lot; they took cover inside the bar. Exh. 280, channel 11, subd 2124 @ 1:24:10-40. Walls was shot in the foot.

11RP 1732-33, 1754. McIntyre was shot through the leg and buttocks resulting in nerve damage. 8RP 1217-22. King was dead from a gunshot wound to the chest. 8RP 1218; 11RP 1599, 1605 (bullet entered from the back). Every bullet hit them from behind. 7RP 975-76.

Pearl Hendricks was leaving the bar at the time of the gunshots. 13RP 1981, 1983. She was shot four times and passed out in the club's doorway beside Walls. 11RP 1735, 1753; 13RP 1984-86 (shot in the ankle, hip, and twice in the back). The gunshots to her thoracic vertebrae permanently paralyzed her. 13RP 1987-88.

Police recovered fired bullets or fragmented bullets, the majority of which had impacted near the club door. 13RP 1997. They recovered 31 fired cartridge casings, which would have ejected in the vicinity of the three shooters. CP 259-61; 11RP 1638. Where Avington and Smalley had stood, police collected 24 casings, six from .40 Smith & Wesson and 17 from a 9mm Ruger. 11RP 1661-99. The remaining 7 casings (9mm Ruger)

were located at a location where Davis appeared to have run. 11RP 1640-43, 1651-61; 18RP 2694-95, 2844.

B. Avington's claim that he aimed away from everybody by shooting high and to the right was inconsistent with the video and ballistic evidence.

Unlike his co-defendants, Davis had not been captured on camera actually firing his weapon. CP 17. His defense was general denial, and the jury would acquit him. 1RP 32; 19RP 2930-31. Avington and Smalley testified that they were the shooters, but claimed they had acted in self-defense. 1RP 37-38, 53-54. They would be convicted as charged. 19RP 2928-32.

Smalley testified that he shot in defense of Avington admitting that he aimed at Walls, King, and McIntyre. 15RP 2373, 2375, 2404, 2429, 2431. He continued to shoot even as people fled with their backs to him or lay huddled inside the club doors. 16RP 2433-35.

Avington testified that he shot to "scare" Walls and to "prevent him from shooting or killing me like he said he would."

16RP 2499. He claimed he "aimed away from" everybody,

shooting high and to the right. 16RP 2501; 17RP 2580. Neither the ballistic evidence nor the video supported Avington's claim that he shot away from people. 17RP 2628.

C. The trial court declined to instruct the jury on manslaughter.

Avington and Smalley asked that the jury be instructed on manslaughter as a lesser included offense of extreme indifference murder. 17RP 2613.

The judge focused on the factual prong of the *Workman* test. 17RP 2620-21 (quoting *State v. Henderson*, 182 Wn.2d 734, 744, 33 P.3d 1207 (2015)). He observed the evidence of the shooting was "on video." 17RP 2623. The shooters were very close – only 20-35 feet away. 16RP 2494; 17RP 2627. From the video, it was apparent that Avington held the gun level, aiming at the people gathered at the front of the club. 17RP 2627-28. There were no barriers for the people to hide behind. 16RP 2525. There were "well over 20 people at extreme risk of being killed" with "a clear unobstructed line of fire" to at least 15 potential

homicide victims. 17RP 2624-25. Four people were hit by eight bullets. 17RP 2625-26.

The physical evidence in this case that I've been referring to demonstrates that all of the shots -- well, nearly all of the shots -- were directed towards that crowd. So the physical evidence undermines greatly the credibility of Mr. Avington's assertion that he did not aim at anybody in particular because the gunfire landed very close to or directly into the crowd.

. . . .

...I have tried to view this evidence in a light most favorable to the defendants, but based on all these facts, I do not believe the jury in this case could rationally conclude that any of these defendants committed Manslaughter in the First Degree to the exclusion of extreme indifference murder, and, again, this presupposes that the shooting was not justified.

17RP 2628-29. The court declined to instruct the jury on manslaughter. 17RP 2622.

D. The court of appeals declined to review Avington's unpreserved claim that the court should have instructed the jury on manslaughter under the theory that he recklessly used more force than necessary in defending himself.

With regard to the lesser included instruction, Avington made two claims on appeal. First, he argued that he was entitled

to the manslaughter instruction under the theory that he recklessly used more force than necessary in defending himself and that the trial court's failed to consider *State v. Coryell.* Op. Br. of Ap. at 26-27, 30. And, second, he argued that the trial court had improperly determined Avington's credibility. *Id.* at 30.

The court of appeals only considered the second of these claims, i.e., whether the trial court improperly weighed evidence by making credibility determinations. Op. at 13. It held that it was proper for the court to consider the evidence which directly contradicted Avington's testimony that he had aimed high and to the right, and not at any human beings. Op. at 15. Avington does not seek review of this decision.

We hold that in light of the video evidence showing Avington standing square and shooting straight towards the direction of the bar entrance, where the victim and others were gathered, and Avington's stipulation that a photo admitted into evidence shows him standing square and firing multiple rounds from a semi-automatic handgun straight

¹ State v. Corvell, 197 Wn.2d 397, 483 P.3d 98 (2021).

towards the direction of the bar entrance where the victims and others were gathered, no reasonable jury would have been able to rationally find that Avington was acting recklessly as required for first degree manslaughter rather than with extreme indifference as required for first degree murder. Thus, the trial court did not err in failing to give the lesser included jury instruction on first degree manslaughter.

Op. at 1-2.

The court of appeals declined to review whether Avington was entitled to the jury instruction on manslaughter under the theory that he reasonably believed that he needed to act in self-defense but recklessly used more force than was warranted. Op. at 13, n.6.

... This specific argument is raised for the first time on appeal.

Under RAP 2.5(a), we may refuse to consider arguments raised for the first time on appeal. Although Avington objected to the trial court's decision to decline the first degree manslaughter instruction, he did not argue that he was entitled to the instruction because he recklessly used more force than necessary to defend himself. And the trial court's ruling was not based, in any way, on the theory that a first degree manslaughter instruction was appropriate because the use of force was recklessly more than necessary. Further, Avington does not address RAP 2.5(a)(3) or any exception to

waiver in his briefing. See State v. Cox, 109 Wn. App. 937, 943, 38 P.3d 371 (2002) (when an appellant fails to provide argument or authority, this court is not "required to construct an argument on behalf of appellants"). Therefore, we decline to consider Avington's argument raised for the first time on appeal that the trial court should have given the lesser included offense instructions because he recklessly used more force than necessary in self-defense.

Op. at 13, n.6.

Avington's convictions were affirmed on appeal. Op. at 37. Avington claims that the court of appeals' opinion is in conflict with *Coryell*.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. There is no conflict with *State v. Coryell* where, under RAP 2.5(a), the court of appeals declined to consider this claim which raised for the first time on appeal.

Avington asserts that the trial court's decision (and the court of appeals affirmance of that decision) is in conflict with *State v. Coryell*, 197 Wn.2d 397, 414-15, 483 P.3d 98 (2021). Pet. at 1, 18-19, 23; Op. Br. of Ap. at 25-26, 30-31. Specifically, he claims that it was error for the trial court to query whether the lesser offense could have been committed "to the exclusion" of

the charged offense and should have found that a jury could find Avington recklessly used more force than necessary in self-defense.² Pet. at 1, 23 (citing 17RP 2622, 2629). However, it is impossible that the court of appeals opinion could be in conflict with any published opinion on an issue which it *declined to review*. Op. at 13, n.6.

Because this claim was not decided, the Petitioner can have no credibility when he claims the decision of the claim conflicts with any case law.

V. CONCLUSION

The State requests this Court decline review of this petition.

///

///

///

² Coryell clarified that the proponent of a lesser included instruction is not required to disprove the greater charge or show that the greater charge was not committed. Coryell, 197 Wn.2d at 414-15.

This document contains 1,975 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.